1953

Harry Alexander, Ralph H. Alexander and Evelyn Alexander Howick v. Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company and Hanna Wilson Alexander : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a decree entered by the trial court, sitting without a jury. The facts involved in this case were not in serious dispute at the trial and the sole question raised by this appeal is whether or not the trial court erred in its application of the law to the facts presented.

Plaintiffs alleged in their complaint that they were beneficiaries under a certain trust agreement dated January 10, 1930, executed by Henry A. Alexander, Emily J. Alexander and Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company and an amendment thereto dated July 2, 1940; that certain described property was the subject matter of the alleged trust and that by its terms the trust was ripe for distribution to the beneficiaries (R. 1). The complaint further alleged that Hannah Wilson Alexander, Appellant, claimed an interest in said property adverse to that of plaintiffs'. Plaintiffs prayed that the alleged trust be terminated, the property distributed according to its terms and that the claims of Hannah Wilson Alexander be declared invalid and title quieted against her.

A stipulation was filed by the parties to this action reciting that the defendant Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company had no interest in the controversy herein involved, and that it should continue to hold said real property as trustee and to abide by the outcome of this action (R. 17). Hannah Wilson Alexander will be referred to in this brief as Defendant.

Defendant answered plaintiff's complaint denying generally the allegations concerning the trust agreement and admitting that she asserted a claim in and to said property adverse and hostile to plaintiff's claim (R. 9). As a Cross Complaint, defendant alleged that during his life time, Henry A. Alexander purchased from Louis DeYoung and Louise S. DeYoung, his wife, the property in question, paid the full purchase price therefor, and became the owner of

complete legal and equitable title thereto; that he caused and directed the sellers to convey legal title to Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company and at all times subsequent to that time was the owner of full and complete equitable title to said property and was in possession thereof during his life time and at the time of his death; that at the time the property was so acquired defendant was the lawful wife of Henry A. Alexander and survived him as his widow; that she had at no time parted with or relinquished any of her right, title, inchoate dower or interest in said property and is and at all times has been the owner in fee simple of undivided one-third interest of said property. The Cross-Complaint prayed that her interest in said property be decreed and that the plaintiffs' claim against said interest be quieted and that the alleged trustee be ordered to convey to her legal title to an undivided one-third interest in said property. Plaintiffs' Reply in substance denied the claim of defendant (R. 12).

Subsequent to the commencement of this action, the parties entered into an agreement allowing Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company to sell the real property and to hold the proceeds of said sale pending the determination of this cause (R. 57).

The case was tried by the Court, sitting without a jury, and after hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, the Court granted judgment to the plaintiffs as prayed in their complaint and ordered that the proceeds from the real property be distributed to the plaintiffs as provided in the trust agreement. It is from the Decree of the trial court that this appeal is taken.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On January 10, 1930, Henry A. Alexander and Emily J. Alexander, his wife, entered into the following agreement with Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company (R. 4) :

TRUST AGREEMENT

THIS AGREEMENT made and entered into at Salt Lake City, Utah, this tenth day of January, A. D., 1930, by and between HENRY A. ALEXANDER and EMILY J. ALEXANDER, his wife, of Salt Lake City, Utah, FIRST PARTIES, herein called "TRUSTORS", and ZION'S SAVINGS BANK AND TRUST COMPANY, a corporation, of Salt Lake City, Utah, SECOND PARTY, herein called "TRUSTEE", WITNESSETH:

THAT, WHEREAS, the said Trustors desire to create a Trust respecting the property hereinafter described, for the benefit of the survivor of them, and for the benefit of their heirs hereinafter named, and for other reasons;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the foregoing, and of the sum of ONE (\$1.00) DOLLAR in hand paid, receipt whereof is hereby acknowledged, and of the performance of the terms of this Trust by the Trustee, the said Trustors have sold, assigned, transferred, set over and conveyed, and by these presents do sell, assign, transfer, set over and convey unto the said Trustee all of that certain real estate and personal property described in a list hereto attached, marked "EXHIBIT A", hereby referred to and made a part of this trust agreement.

It is mutually agreed that all of the property above described, mentioned and referred to shall be

called the "TRUST FUND", and that the said Trustors may, at their option, add to said Trust Fund by depositing with and assigning and conveying to the Trustee other property, money or securities, and all such additions shall become a part of the Trust Fund, and be subject to all of the terms and conditions hereof.

All of the said Trust Fund shall be held and disposed of by the Trustee strictly for the following uses and purposes and upon the following trusts, to-wit:

1. Said Trustors hereby expressly reserve unto themselves, jointly, and to the survivor of them, the right to receive all of the income from said Trust Fund, and expressly reserve the right to revoke and terminate this Trust in whole or in part at any time during the joint lives of Trustors, or the lifetime of the survivor of them, and they, and the survivor of them, expressly reserve the right to change the beneficiaries herein named, and to change or modify the nature of the Trust hereby created, or the terms and conditions thereof in any respect. Such revocation or change shall be in writing signed by said Trustors, during their joint lifetime, and thereafter by the survivor of them, or by their attorney-in-fact thereunto duly authorized, but no particular or technical form thereof shall be required, and no such revocation or change need be acknowledged. Upon the revocation of this Trust, as above provided, the Trustee will assign, without recourse, or quitclaim back to said Trustors, or to such person as they, or the survivor of them, may designate in such revocation or change, all such property as may be included within the revocation or change.

2. During the lifetime of said Trustors, and the survivor of them, all taxes, assessments, insurance premiums, and all other costs, expenses, debts

and obligations of said Trustors, or either of them, in connection with the property included in this Trust, shall be paid by the said Trustors, and the survivor of them, and the Trustee shall not be responsible or liable in any manner for the nonpayment of any such taxes, assessments, premiums, costs, expenses, debts and obligations of any name or nature whatsoever.

3. If, upon the death of the survivor of said Trustors, this trust shall not have been revoked in full, as to all of the property covered hereby, then out of such as shall remain subject to this Trust, the Trustee shall pay the costs and expenses of the last sickness and funeral charges of said survivor and shall deduct for its compensation as Trustee hereunder such fees and expenses as are usually charged in like cases; and all of the rest, residue and remainder of said Trust Fund shall be distributed as follows:

One-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) to HARRY ALEXANDER, son of Trustors, if he be then living, and if not, then in equal shares to his then living heirs.

One-half ($\frac{1}{2}$) to RALPH HENRY ALEXANDER, grandson of Trustors, and EVELYN JUNE ALEXANDER, granddaughter of Trustors, share and share alike, with the understanding that if said two grandchildren be minors at the time the distribution of the Trust Fund shall take place, the Trustee shall continue to hold in trust the respective shares to which said two grandchildren are entitled hereunder, until they become of legal age, at which time their respective portions of the Trust Fund shall be delivered and paid over to them. If, however, before two said grandchildren become of legal age, Trustee shall deem it advisable or necessary to pay from their respective shares

for their support, maintenance, care or education, authority is hereby vested in said Trustee to pay such sums and at such times as Trustee shall, in its business discretion, consider necessary and advisable to supply for said two grandchildren proper care, support, maintenance and education. In the event that either of said two grandchildren shall die before receiving the full portion of the Trust Fund to which he or she is entitled hereunder, the share of such deceased grandchild shall go to the surviving grandchild, if there be a survivor, and if not, then such share shall go to Harry Alexander, son of Trustor, or his then living heirs.

4. In order that the terms and conditions of this Trust may be fully consummated, said Trustee is hereby authorized and empowered to sell any part or all of the said Trust Fund, at private or public sale, without notice to or confirmation of any court, and is further vested with full power and authority to comply with all legal requirements as to the execution of writings, deeds, leases, assignments, conveyances and other documents and formalities, without the confirmation of any court; and is authorized to pay from the Trust Fund all expenses and costs necessary for the fulfillment of this Trust, or the protection of the property covered hereby, or the prosecution or defense of any action or proceeding in which any of the Trust Fund may be involved.

5. The respective interests of beneficiaries in the Trust Fund created hereby shall in no case vest in such beneficiaries until they, respectively, shall become entitled to receive and demand, absolutely and forthwith, the income or principal of the said Trust Fund to which they, respectively, may be entitled hereunder, and such beneficiaries shall have

no control whatsoever over, or interest in said Trust Fund except as herein provided; and they shall have no right or authority to assign or anticipate any income or share to which they may be entitled under the provisions of this Agreement, and the interests of said beneficiaries, and each of them, either in the principal or the income shall not be liable in any manner or to any extent for the obligations or liabilities, voluntary or involuntary, of the said beneficiaries, or either or any of them, of whatsoever character.

6. In the event that there shall be no beneficiaries, named herein, living at the time of the final distribution of the said Trust Fund, then, and in this event, the entire Trust Fund shall revert to the estate of Henry A. Alexander, and be distributed in accordance with the laws of the State of Utah governing estates of deceased persons.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the said Trustors have hereunto set their hands and seals, and the Trustee to signify its acceptance of the Trust hereby created, has caused these presents to be executed on the day and year herein first above written.

(s) Henry A. Alexander

(s) Emily Jane Alexander

FIRST PARTIES

ZION'S SAVINGS BANK & TRUST COMPANY

BY (s) Wm. McEwan, Its Cashier

SECOND PARTY

Certain real property described in the exhibit to the trust agreement (R. 7) had been acquired by Henry A. Alexander in 1920 by a Warranty Deed in which he was the sole grantee (R. 52).

Subsequent to the execution of this agreement, Emily J. Alexander died. On November 3, 1936, Henry A. Alexander was married to Defendant, Hannah Wilson Alexander, sister of his first wife, at Salt Lake City, Utah. On May 21, 1940, Henry A. Alexander executed an instrument entitled "Withdrawal of Property From Trust" which described the real property referred to in the exhibit to the trust agreement, acknowledged receipt of this property and released the trustee from any obligation in relation to it (Exhibit 4). The property was then conveyed, at his request, to Louis DeYoung and Louise S. DeYoung, his wife. In consideration for the transfer by Henry A. Alexander of the property withdrawn from the trust, the DeYoungs, at his request and pursuant to an agreement with him conveyed to Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company the real property involved in this case, known as 685 East 3065 South, Salt Lake County, Utah.

On July 11, 1940, almost four years after his marriage to defendant, Henry A. Alexander addressed a letter to Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company for the purpose of amending the trust agreement (Exhibit 2). This letter reads as follows:

Zions Savings Bank and Trust Company
Trustee Under Trust No. 324

Gentlemen:

Pursuant to the right reserved in the above agreement to change the terms thereof, I have elected and do by these presents elect to change the provisions of said agreement as follows:

My wife, Emily J. Alexander, named in said agreement is now deceased and I have remarried; my present wife's name is Hannah Wilson Alexander, and I desire that the following paragraph shall be incorporated in the original trust agreement as though originally a part thereof:

"In the event Hannah Wilson Alexander shall survive Henry A. Alexander she shall be entitled to the use and occupancy of the family home at 685 East 3065 South, for so long as she shall desire to occupy the same. This right in her, however, shall not extend to a life estate so that she would be enabled to rent the property to a third person, but it shall be confined to her personal use and occupancy. In the event there are funds in the Trust Estate for the payment of taxes on said property and its maintenance, she shall have the use and occupancy as aforesaid free of all expense or upkeep and the taxes; but in the event there are not funds in the Trust Estate for the payment of these items, it will necessarily be her obligation to pay the same as they fall due. If the said Hannah Wilson Alexander does not survive Henry A. Alexander, then upon his death distribution of the Trust Estate shall be made as hereinafter provided. If she does survive him, then upon her death, such distribution shall likewise be made."

Further I hereby declare said original trust agreement as hereby amended to be in full force and effect.

(s) Henry A. Alexander
TRUSTOR

During the remainder of his lifetime, Henry A. Alexander paid the taxes on the above property and had the full and unrestricted possession and control thereof (R.

4). He and his wife, Hannah Wilson Alexander, lived upon said property after its acquisition until his death in June, 1943 (R. 45). From the date of her husband's death until May, 1952, the defendant continued to reside on the property, make the necessary repairs to the home and premises, and paid all of the taxes (R. 46). Since May of 1952, due to her advanced age and poor health, the defendant has lived with her son (R. 27, 46). She was unable to appear at the trial of this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT HER ONE-THIRD STATUTORY INTEREST IN SAID PROPERTY SINCE THE PURPORTED TRUST WAS ILLUSORY AND TESTAMENTARY IN NATURE AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO DEFEAT HER INTEREST.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT HER UNDIVIDED ONE-THIRD STATUTORY INTEREST IN SAID PROPERTY SINCE HER DECEASED HUSBAND IN ANY EVENT OWNED THE FULL AND COMPLETE EQUITABLE TITLE TO SAID PROPERTY INCLUDING ALL INCIDENTS OF OWNERSHIP.

POINT III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT HER UNDIVIDED ONE-THIRD STATUTORY INTEREST IN SAID PROPERTY SINCE IN ANY EVENT HER INTEREST WOULD HAVE ATTACHED AT THE TIME THE PROPERTY WAS PURCHASED AND CONVEYED TO THE TRUSTEE.

POINT IV

THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE WHATSOEVER TO SUPPORT THE CONCLUSION THAT THE DEFENDANT AT ANY TIME RELINQUISHED OR PARTED WITH HER INTEREST IN SAID PROPERTY.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT HER ONE-THIRD STATUTORY INTEREST IN SAID PROPERTY SINCE THE PURPORTED TRUST WAS ILLUSORY AND TESTAMENTARY IN NATURE AND SHOULD NOT HAVE BEEN ALLOWED TO DEFEAT HER INTEREST.

The sole issue in this case is whether or not the trial court erred in holding that under the facts as stated above the appellant, Hannah Wilson Alexander, was not entitled

to an undivided one-third interest in said property or the proceeds thereof. Defendant's claim to an interest in this property arises by virtue of Section 74-4-3 U. C. A. (1953) which reads in part as follows:

"One-third in value of all the legal or equitable estates in real property possessed by the husband at any time during the marriage, to which the wife has made no relinquishment of her rights, shall be set apart as her property in fee simple, if she survives him. . . ."

So far as defendant has been able to ascertain, with the exception of the argument made under Point III, this Court has never considered the issues similar to those raised by this appeal. The decisions of this Court have, however, tended to favor the upholding of the wife's statutory dower interest whenever it could possibly be justified under the facts of the particular case.

It is defendant's first contention that the purported trust created by defendant's husband and his former wife was illusory and testamentary in nature and was, for the purpose of determining defendant's rights under the above statute, void. An examination of the provisions of the purported trust agreement as they existed at the time defendant and Henry A. Alexander were married reveals that during his lifetime, he parted with nothing. While the instrument in form purports to create a trust, in substance it in no way changed his ownership or control over the property. During his lifetime, he retained the power to revoke the trust, to change the beneficiary, to modify its terms in any respect he desired and in addition he retained

the full and complete beneficial use and enjoyment of the property (R. 4). He was in no way restricted in his power to sell or dispose of the property, as indeed the sale of the first parcel of property held in trust indicates. During Alexander's lifetime, the Bank had no right to control or manage the trust res in any manner whatsoever. He was required by the agreement to pay the taxes and in fact did so until his death. Had Henry A. Alexander retained a fee simple title, he could not have had any greater rights or powers over this property. Complete fee simple ownership in property gives one the uncontrolled right to enjoy the use of the same in any manner he pleases and to transfer or convey it in whole or in part during his lifetime or upon his death. Henry A. Alexander had all of these rights. He parted with nothing until his death. The trust agreement was purely testamentary.

The validity of a purported trust very similar to that involved in this case was considered by the United States Court of Appeals for the District of Columbia in *Betker v. Nalley*, 140 F. 2d 171 (1944). The trust in that case contained two parcels of land. The settlor retained the beneficial use of the property during her lifetime together with the power to direct the trustees to convey or mortgage the land at any time. Upon her death, the property was to be sold and the proceeds divided among certain of the settlor's children. The trust was thus in all respects similar to the one involved in this case. After considering the question, the Court concluded that such a trust was testamentary in nature and invalid. At page 173, the Court states:

"The only thing the grantor parted with irrevocably was the remainder of the trust property, if there should be any remainder after her death; and the only possibility that any discretion or power might have to be exercised by her trustees after her death arose from the possibility that she might elect not to dispose of the entire trust property before her death. Even in that event they were to be mere channels through which title would flow for the purpose of distribution. It seems obvious, therefore, that the deed of June, 1930, was ineffective to create a trust. Instead, it was, and was intended to be, merely testamentary in character."

In many cases where Courts have been faced with this question, it has been held that where the settlor parts with nothing during his lifetime, no valid trust is created and unless the statutes relating to the execution of wills are complied with, the conveyance must fail.

In *Warsco v. Oshkosh Sav. & Tr. Co.*, 182 Wis. 458, 196 N. W. 829 (1924), the Supreme Court of Wisconsin held:

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