1953

# Harry Alexander, Ralph H. Alexander and Evelyn Alexander Howick v. Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company and Hanna Wilson Alexander : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

The assertion and argument of appellant that the trust in question was illusory and that the Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company was an agent rather than a trustee is entirely without merit under the facts of this case and existing law.

The trust was originally created by a formal written agreement between the two "trustors" and the trustee



(Ex. "1"). The "trustors" reserved the use and income of the property in the trust fund for their joint lives. The "trustors" also reserved unto themselves jointly and to the survivor the right to revoke the trust in whole or in part and the right to amend, such revocation or amendment to be in writing and signed by the "trustors" during their joint lifetime or the survivor of them (Ex. "1", par. 1). The trustee was given powers of sale of trust property and of execution of necessary legal documents (Ex. "1", par. 4). The trustee was given the duties of paying expenses of last illness and funeral charges of the survivor and distributing the balance remaining in the fund to the beneficiaries specifically named (the respondents herein) in the shares designated, and further if either of the two grandchildren at the time of distribution be a minor, the trustee had the further duty to manage the share of such minor during minority for the benefit of said minor using its own discretion in fulfilling the goals set out (Ex. "1", par. 3).

Respondents maintain that by the great weight of authority in this country, such a transaction as is involved in this case, constituted an enforceable trust and gave the beneficiaries a vested interest subject to divestment by the exercise of the power of revocation. Therefore, the trust not having been revoked, the beneficiaries are entitled to their respective interests as provided in the trust document. See *Scott on Trusts*, Vol. 1, pars. 57.1, 57.2; 73 *A.L.R.* 209; 43 *Harv. L. Rev.* 521, *Trusts and The Statute of Wills* by Austin W. Scott.

Indeed, at 73 *A.L.R.* p. 212, it is stated:

“Instead of imparting a testamentary character to the instrument, the reservation of a right of revocation has been held to rebut the idea that the instrument was intended as a testamentary disposition of property, since such a reservation would be wholly superfluous if the instrument were a will, as a will requires no express power to make it revocable.”

Citing *Hall v. Burkham*, 59 Ala. 349 and *Cribbs v. Walker*, 85 S.W. 244.

An excellent discussion of the law on this point is contained in the case of *Rose v. Rose* (Mich. 1942), 1 N.W. 2d 458, where the settlor retained a beneficial life estate plus a power of revocation plus extensive powers of control over the trustee. The case held that title to the trust property passes to the trustee by virtue of the trust instrument and that the beneficiaries take vested interests in the property, the powers reserved to the trustor amounting to conditions subsequent, upon the happening of which the vested interests are divested. Also, see *Kelly v. Parker*, 54 N.E. 615; *Goodrich et al v. City National Bank & Trust Company of Battle Creek*, 258 N.W. 253; and *Keck v. McKinstry et al.*, 221 N.W. 851.

The case of *Kelly v. Parker* placed significance in the fact that the subject matter of the trust was land and that it was conveyed by a formal instrument in which the

purposes of the trust were fully stated. Along this line of thinking the *Restatement of the Law of Trusts*, Sec. 57, par. g, p. 179, states:

“In determining whether the reserved powers are so great as to make the trustee an agent of the settlor, one of the factors to be considered is the formality of the transaction. Thus, if the transfer to the trustee was by a deed formally executed and recorded, the conclusion that the trustee was also the agent of the settlor would be less likely to be drawn than if the transfer were less formally evidenced.”

When all is said and done, the determination of the cases on this subject boils down to an interpretation by the court of the intent of the settlor. It is stated in the case of *Talbot et al v. Talbot et al.*, 78 A. 535, that in determining whether or not there was an intent to create a trust, the facts should be construed as strongly as possible in favor of a trust. In a case with more powers reserved to the settlor than in the case at bar, *Nichols v. Emery et al.*, (Calif.), 41 Pac. 1089, the court, speaking about the reservation of the right of revocation, stated:

“Indeed, this power of reservation was strongly favored in the case of voluntary settlements at common law, and such a trust, without such a reservation was open to suspicion of undue advantage taken of the settlor.”

Citing *Lewin, Trusts*, pp. 75, 76, and *Perry, Trusts*, par. 104.

It is wondered if there can be any doubt whatsoever in the present case, but that the intent of the settlor was to create a legal and binding trust. The settlor and his first wife created the trust, of their home and certain personal property, obviously for their own present benefit and for the ultimate benefit of their own heirs. How can the settlor be said to have given up nothing when his first wife, Emily, was given a life interest along with him as a joint beneficiary? How can it be said that the bank was the mere agent of Henry A. Alexander when the property was formally conveyed to the said bank and when said bank was given duties to perform in relation to the property so given? Would not the overthrowing of this trust agreement as testamentary be the grossest kind of derogation of the intent of Henry A. Alexander that the heirs of himself and his first wife, Emily J. Alexander, should ultimately have the full ownership of the property that he and Emily had accumulated during their marriage? Is it so strange that a man and wife should desire their own children and grandchildren to succeed to the property they accumulate during their marriage? And what of the distribution provided in the trust instrument leaving shares of the remainder to specifically named persons? Is the court to ignore this provision and hold that these beneficiaries so named have no interest at all under the trust agreement? Respondents respectfully submit that the overwhelming weight of authority gives these beneficiaries an immediate vested

interest in the trust property, subject only to being divested by exercise of the powers of revocation or amendment.

In the amendment which was executed by Henry A. Alexander (Ex. "2") a further reaffirmation of Henry A. Alexander's intent is shown when he provided for the right of personal use and occupancy of the home by his second wife, defendant herein, and in the last sentence stated:

"Further I hereby declare said original trust agreement as hereby amended to be in full force and effect."

It appears that the possibility of a second wife's statutory dower interest interfering with the rights of the heirs of Henry A. Alexander and Emily J. Alexander could indeed have even been a reason for establishing such a trust fund.

The cases cited by appellant in her brief are in the main not in point and the ones which may be in point represent a minority point of view.

The case of *Warsco v. Oshkosh Savings & Trust Co.*, 196 N.W. 829, which relies on *McEvoy v. Boston Five Cents Savings Bank*, 87 N.E. 465, represents a weak stand in the law of trusts. The *Warsco* case itself could not be used as authority in Wisconsin today inasmuch as a later statute has changed the law in Wisconsin so as

to conform with the majority point of view (*Wis. Stat. 1935*, par. 231.205).

The *McEvoy* case was subsequently weakened in Massachusetts by the case of *Jones v. Old Colony Trust Co.*, 146 N.E. 716, a case with very similar facts which held that there was a valid trust. For a discussion of these cases, see 43 *Harv. L. Rev.*, p. 531 and following; and *Scott on Trusts*, Vol. 1, par. 57.2.

The New York cases cited by appellant involve situations where husbands are attempting to defeat rights given wives under a New York statute and are therefore not in point. The same comment applies to the Ohio cases.

Other cases upholding respondents' view of the law on this subject are as follows:

*Van Cott v. Prentice and others*, 10 N.E. 257;

*Kelley v. Snow et al.*, 70 N.E. 89;

*Roche v. Brickley*, 150 N.E. 866;

*Lines v. Lines et al.*, 21 A. 809;

*Windolph v. Girard Trust Co., et al.*, 91 A. 634;

*Beirne v. Continental Equitable Trust Co.*, 161 A. 721;

*Louise Bergmann v. Foreman State Trust and Savings Bank et al.*, 273 Ill. App. 408.

Also, see *Bogert, Trusts and Trustees*, Vol. 1, par. 104.

## POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE WIDOW HER ONE-THIRD STATUTORY INTEREST IN SAID PROPERTY SINCE THE HUSBAND HAD NO GREATER TITLE THAN AN EQUITABLE LIFE ESTATE IN THE PROPERTY.

In appellant's Point II the argument is made that Henry A. Alexander owned full and complete equitable title to the property in question to which the statutory interest attached.

The respondents have no disagreement with the cases cited by appellant which hold that dower will attach to an equitable fee simple estate. *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953, Sec. 74-4-3 makes it clear that the widow's interest provided therein will attach to an equitable fee simple estate in real property possessed by the husband at any time during the marriage. However, it is also clear, under the facts in this case and under existing law, that the settlor retained only an equitable life estate and not an equitable fee simple estate, and therefore, the widow does not qualify under *Utah Code Annotated*, 1953, Sec. 74-4-3.

Any such reasoning as suggested by appellant would state that the beneficiaries specifically named in the trust agreement had nothing but a mere expectancy. It is difficult to see how the terms of a formal agreement could be so utterly disregarded as to hold that the beneficiaries had no more than they would have had, had there been no trust agreement at all.



It is stated in *Tiffany Real Property*, Third Ed. Vol. 1, at page 81:

“While the gift of a power of disposition to one to whom the property has been devised without words of limitation has been regarded as sufficient to show an intention to give him an estate in fee simple, no such effect properly follows from the gift of a power to one to whom a life estate has been explicitly given. In other words, the gift of a power of disposition does not enlarge an estate for life to an estate in fee simple, especially where the power is limited to disposition in the lifetime of the devisee, \* \* \* \* Somewhat singularly, in a few states, a contrary view has been asserted, provided the power is general in character.”

A thorough study of the law on this point is contained in 36 *A.L.R.* 1218. In that annotation, the minority cases cited were all from West Virginia, Virginia, Tennessee, and Michigan. The rule has later been changed by statute in the states of West Virginia, Virginia, and Tennessee, to conform with the majority point of view. See *Tiffany Real Property*, Third Edition, Vol. 1, Footnote 79, p. 83.

It appears to respondents that the cases cited by appellant represent an exceedingly small minority view and possibly a confusion by courts of cases of dissimilar fact situations with the rule of *Shelley's* case. It seems inconceivable that such reasoning could defeat the rights of specifically named beneficiaries as exist in the trust



agreement involved in this case. Such reasoning could be used to defeat the obvious intent of the settlor as it is in this case, where beneficiaries were specifically named to receive such of the estate as remained in the trust fund at settlor's death. The two gifts certainly are not inconsistent with each other inasmuch as the beneficiaries interests only existed in such property as had not been taken out of the trust at the time of the settlor's death.

Respondents reassert that they had a vested interest in the trust from the time of the creation of the trust, subject only to be defeated by a condition subsequent, revocation or amendment by both of the joint "trustors" or the survivor. Furthermore, appellant's argument could only conceivably apply to a settlor who had reserved to himself a life estate. That is not the fact in this case inasmuch as the estate reserved was for the joint lives of Henry A. Alexander and his first wife, Emily J. Alexander.

The appellant makes an argument indicating that the wife's statutory interest should attach due to the fact that the husband, at his death, had the power of disposition over the property. Such reasoning would lead to a rule of law that dower attaches to a mere right of revocation. This is certainly a far cry from a freehold estate which children of the marriage would inherit. See *17 Am. Jur.* p. 687. It is needless to say that the respondents have been unable to find any cases which go as far as to allow dower to attach to such an interest.

## POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED THE WIDOW HER STATUTORY INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY SINCE THE HUSBAND GAINED NO INTEREST IN ADDITION TO AN EQUITABLE LIFE ESTATE BY REASON OF THE CONVEYANCE BY A THIRD PARTY OF THE PROPERTY TO THE TRUSTEE.

Under Point III of appellant's brief, it is argued that the wife's statutory interest attached to the property in question by reason of the transaction whereby the original real property in the trust fund was conveyed to a third party by the trustee in exchange for the present property in the fund conveyed on the same date by the third party to the trustee. The form executed by Henry A. Alexander with respect to the new property (Ex. 3) stated that said property coming to the trustee was to be held subject to the original trust agreement, "as if the same for all intents and purposes had been deposited with you at the time of making said agreement." The evidence is uncontroverted that the legal title to the present trust property passed directly by warranty deed from Louis DeYoung and Louise S. DeYoung, grantors, to Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company, grantee (Ex. 5). The obvious purpose of the instrument executed by Henry A. Alexander with respect to this property (Ex. 3) was to inform the trustee that this property was to be held subject to the original trust as if originally deposited in said trust.

It is difficult to ascertain the ground on which appellant relies in asserting that Henry A. Alexander at any

time had full legal and equitable title to this property. The only evidence submitted on the subject is the Warranty Deed from the DeYoungs to the Zion's Savings Bank & Trust Company.

The next ground urged by appellant is that the husband, at one time had full equitable title to this property by reason of the aforementioned transaction. The only evidence on the subject indicates a straight trade between the DeYoungs and the Bank (Exs. 3 and 4). There is no written contract alleged or proved by appellant. Respondents agree with appellant on what the law is in Utah as laid down by the case of *McNeil v. McNeil*, 61 Utah 141, 211 Pac. 988 (1922). Respondents agree that in such a situation the husband must be in a position to compel conveyance to himself under the contract before the wife's statutory interest will attach. This is a situation where equity has looked at that being done which should be done under the contract. However, there is no contract to enforce in the present case. Even if there were such a contract, to whom could the husband have compelled conveyance? Not to himself, but to another. It is generally stated that the estate to which dower attaches must be an inheritable estate, so that the children, if any, of the marriage would inherit it. 17 *Am. Jur.* 687. It seems inconceivable that there ever was an interest present which could have been inherited by children of the second marriage. It is respectfully submitted that Henry A. Alexander never, at any time,

had any interest in the trust property in question other than his interests by virtue of the trust agreement.

According to the reasoning offered by appellant, the wife, simply by the trade heretofore mentioned, would have a statutory dower interest not only in the property presently in the trust, but also in the property now held by the DeYoungs. This certainly would appear to be an amazing result in view of the fact that she never did have an interest in the original trust property which had been placed in the trust years before her marriage to Henry A. Alexander by Henry A. Alexander and his first wife, Emily J. Alexander.

The rule as established by the *McNeil* case is a rule determining interests under an executory contract for the sale of land. It is difficult to understand how this case and like cases could apply to the facts of the case at bar. In the case at bar, it appears that there was an instantaneous exchange of properties. An executory contract does not appear to have existed at any time.

Although it is not argued in appellant's brief, it appears to respondents that the court may consider whether or not a resulting trust could be present. It immediately occurs to respondents that such a concept would be highly incongruous in the facts of the present case, as it would present the question of having a resulting trust inconsistent with and opposed to a prior express trust.

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